Case No. 85369

In the Supreme Court of Repada

SIERRA HEALTH AND LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY, INC.,

Apr 11 2023 04:56 PM Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Appellant,

vs.

SANDRA L. ESKEW, as special administrator of the Estate of William George Eskew,

Respondent.

Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County
The Honorable Nadia Krall, District Judge
District Court No. A-19-788630-C

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

D. LEE ROBERTS, JR. (SBN 8877)
PHILLIP N. SMITH (SBN 10233)
RYAN T. GORMLEY (SBN 13494)
WEINBERG, WHEELER, HUDGINS,
GUNN & DIAL, LLC
6385 S. Rainbow Blvd., Ste. 400
Las Vegas, Nevada 89118
(702) 938-3838
rgormley@wwhgd.com

THOMAS H. DUPREE JR.

JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction under NRAP 3A(b)(1) and (2) because this is an appeal from an amended final judgment entered following a jury trial and from a denial of post-judgment relief under NRCP 50(b) and 59. See 18-JA-3659-66; 18-JA-3667-76; 18-JA-3677-86. This appeal is timely under NRAP 4(a)(1) because the district court entered the amended judgment on October 24, 2022, and Appellant Sierra Health and Life Insurance Company, Inc. (SHL) filed its amended notice of appeal on October 31, 2022. See 18-JA-3659-66; 18-JA-3687-90.

ROUTING STATEMENT

The Supreme Court should retain this case because it raises substantial issues of first impression and of statewide public importance regarding the standard for bad-faith claims against an insurer and the standard for an award of punitive damages, and because the compensatory and punitive damages awarded below are five and eight times larger, respectively, than any previously upheld in Nevada history. See NRAP 17(a)(12). This case does not fall within any of the categories of cases presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals. See NRAP 17(b).

ISSUES PRESENTED

- 1. Whether SHL is entitled to judgment as a matter of law on Plaintiff's bad-faith claim because Plaintiff (a) failed to prove that SHL lacked a reasonable basis for denying coverage; (b) failed to prove that SHL knew or recklessly disregarded that it lacked a reasonable basis for denying coverage; and (c) failed to prove damages.
- 2. Whether SHL is entitled to judgment as a matter of law on the punitive damages claim because Plaintiff failed to prove by clear and convincing evidence that SHL acted with malice or oppression.
- 3. Whether SHL is entitled to a new trial because (a) the persistent misconduct of Plaintiff's counsel inflamed and biased the jury; (b) the district court erred in admitting irrelevant and highly prejudicial evidence that Plaintiff's counsel used to attack and impugn SHL; and (c) the jury's \$200 million verdict resulted from passion and prejudice.
- 4. Whether SHL is entitled to a substantial remittitur because the compensatory and punitive awards are grossly excessive, irrational, and unconstitutional.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case arises from a dispute over insurance coverage. In February 2016, William Eskew, who was afflicted with stage IV lung cancer, submitted a request to Sierra Health and Life Insurance Company, Inc. (SHL), seeking coverage for proton therapy. The insurance contract did not cover treatments that were "unproven" or not "medically necessary."

SHL determined that proton therapy was neither proven nor medically necessary in Mr. Eskew's case, and denied coverage. SHL's determination was based on its 26-page Medical Policy on proton therapy. SHL's exhaustively researched policy adhered to the then-prevailing consensus in the scientific and medical literature that proton therapy was not a proven or medically necessary treatment for lung cancer. SHL's policy also aligned with the policies of the nation's 12 largest insurers, none of which deemed proton therapy medically necessary to treat lung cancer.

SHL instead authorized coverage for intensity-modulated radiation therapy—the most widely administered therapy for lung cancer. Mr.

Eskew received this treatment. His cancer progressed, and he passed away in March 2017.

Plaintiff Sandra Eskew, the administrator of Mr. Eskew's estate, sued SHL in February 2019 for bad-faith denial of coverage, and the case went to a jury in March 2022. At trial, Plaintiff did *not* allege that the denial of proton therapy caused or even hastened Mr. Eskew's death. Rather, Plaintiff sought damages only for emotional distress caused by the denial of coverage, and for Mr. Eskew's pain-and-suffering caused by his development of grade III esophagitis—even though Plaintiff's expert admitted that Mr. Eskew still would have developed at least grade II esophagitis even if he had received proton therapy. Plaintiff also sought punitive damages.

Plaintiff's counsel had little interest in a trial focused on science, clinical evidence, or peer-reviewed medical studies concerning whether proton therapy was proven and medically necessary for stage IV lung cancer in 2016. Instead, Plaintiff's counsel set out to inflame and incite the jury by attacking the integrity of SHL, its witnesses, and its counsel.

From beginning to end, Plaintiff's counsel accused SHL of running a "rigged system," instructed the jurors to use their verdict to regulate

the insurance industry, and exhorted the jury to punish SHL with a massive damages award. Counsel offered the jury a running commentary of their own personal views on the credibility of SHL's witnesses ("I think ... everything [SHL's witnesses] say about" proton therapy is "unbelievable."), the company's integrity and truthfulness ("The hypocrisy of [SHL] just knocks the wind out of me."), and even urged the jury to impose an enormous multimillion-dollar penalty on SHL by personally vouching for the justness of their cause ("We wouldn't ask you to do it if we weren't convinced it was the right thing to do.").

A key element of Plaintiff's trial presentation was evidence that in 2019—three years after the coverage decision at issue here—a distant corporate relative of SHL owned a minority stake in a company that opened a proton-therapy center in New York. The district court admitted this evidence over SHL's objections, and Plaintiff used it aggressively, accusing SHL of "speaking out of both sides of [its] mouth," and urging the jury to determine the compensatory award based on the amount of money SHL's affiliate had invested in the proton center.

All of these tactics and arguments were grossly improper—but they worked. The jury deliberated for an hour before awarding Plaintiff \$40

million in noneconomic compensatory damages—\$10 million more than Plaintiff's counsel had asked the jury to award—and determined that punitive damages were warranted.

The trial proceeded to a second phase on punitive damages, and Plaintiff's counsel took their tactics to another level. Over SHL's repeated objections, Plaintiff's counsel commanded SHL's witness to turn in her chair, face the jury, and admit the company's guilt. The jury deliberated for less than an hour before awarding \$160 million in punitive damages.

The damages awards are stunning outliers and confirm beyond any doubt that the jury was influenced by passion and prejudice. The \$40 million award for emotional distress and pain-and-suffering is *five times* the largest such award ever upheld in Nevada history. The \$160 million punitive award is more than *eight times* the largest punitive award ever upheld in Nevada history.

This Court should enter judgment in SHL's favor. Under Nevada law, an insurer cannot be liable for bad faith unless it lacked a reasonable basis for denying coverage *and* knew (or recklessly disregarded) that it lacked a reasonable basis for the decision. Here, SHL plainly had a

reasonable basis for the denial. Its Medical Policy—which provided that proton therapy was not a proven, medically necessary treatment for lung cancer—was based on the views of the leading medical and scientific organizations and the peer-reviewed literature; it was the same policy followed by the nation's largest insurers; and it was consistent with court decisions addressing the issue.

If this Court does not enter judgment for SHL, it should order a new trial or enter a drastic remittitur. Counsel's extensive misconduct at trial, and the district court's erroneous decision to admit the protoncenter evidence, led the jury to render an excessive verdict tainted by passion and prejudice. At a minimum, the Court should reduce the shocking and irrational damages awards to amounts that are permissible under Nevada law and the U.S. Constitution.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. Plaintiff Sandra Eskew is the administrator of the estate of her late husband, William Eskew, who was diagnosed with stage IV lung cancer. 16-JA-3332. Stage IV lung cancer means that the cancer has metastasized to more than one area of the body. 12-JA-2465-66. It is the most advanced stage of lung cancer, and the median survival time

following diagnosis and subsequent treatment is between 4 and 14 months. See generally NIH, Nat'l Cancer Inst., Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer Treatment (Feb. 17, 2023), https://bit.ly/3o4mDIc.

Mr. Eskew was insured under a contract issued by Defendant SHL. 15-JA-2909-3010. Mr. Eskew's plan was not an employer-offered healthcare plan covered by the Employee Retirement Income Security Act; rather, it was purchased from the Affordable Care Act Exchange. 5-JA-903-04; 8-JA-1609-10; 11-JA-2283.

The contract limited coverage to procedures deemed "medically necessary," 15-JA-2947-48; 15-JA-2955(§§4.1,5,6.1), defined as a service that, "as determined by SHL," is:

- consistent with the diagnosis and treatment of the Insured's Illness or Injury;
- the most appropriate level of service which can be safely provided to the Insured; and
- not solely for the convenience of the Insured, the Provider(s) or Hospital.

15-JA-2972(§13.66). The contract provided that, in making medical-necessity determinations, SHL may consider "reports in peer-review literature" and "evidence based reports and guidelines published by nationally recognized professional organizations." *Id.* The contract

expressly excluded coverage for any "[e]xperimental, investigational or unproven treatment or devices as determined by SHL." 15-JA-2957(§6.34).

Cancer treatments are constantly evolving in light of medical, scientific, and clinical advances in surgical, chemical, and radiation therapies. Prior to 2015, "the most common therapeutic practice" for radiation treatment was three-dimensional conformal radiation therapy. 16-JA-3229; 16-JA-3203; 10-JA-2105; 5-JA-1044-45. By 2015, many patients were receiving a more advanced treatment known as intensity-modulated radiation therapy (IMRT), which uses computer-controlled linear accelerators to deliver precise doses of photons to the target area while minimizing the dose delivered to surrounding healthy tissue. 16-JA-3203; 5-JA-1044-45.

A third type of radiation therapy known as proton therapy was also being developed as a potential new method for treating certain cancers. Rather than using photons to destroy cancer cells, proton therapy uses a beam of protons that can deliver radiation in a more confined way. 15-JA-3108. As of 2016, however, there was "limited clinical evidence" demonstrating proton therapy's effectiveness for many types of cancer,

including "[l]ung cancer." 15-JA-3106; 16-JA-3229; 11-JA-2301-08. The potential adverse side effects of proton therapy had not been closely studied, and there were fears that it would deliver a much higher "maximum dose" of protons, which could rupture the esophagus and other sensitive organs. 12-JA-2472-76.

On February 3, 2016, Mr. Eskew's treating physician submitted a prior-authorization request to SHL for proton therapy. 15-JA-3011. The request was reviewed by Dr. Shamoon Ahmad, a board-certified medical oncologist. 15-JA-3012; 5-JA-942; 5-JA-976; 5-JA-1040-43; 11-JA-2263. Dr. Ahmad reviewed the request in accordance with SHL policy, and on February 5, 2016, SHL denied the request. 5-JA-1046-63; 15-JA-3043-45. The denial letter explained that the requested proton treatment was not covered under the contract because it was both "unproven" and not "medically necessary." 15-JA-3043.

The denial was based on SHL's then-current "Medical Policy" entitled "Proton Beam Radiation Therapy." Like most insurers, SHL maintains medical policies to guide coverage decisions that turn on whether a requested treatment is "medically necessary" under the terms of an insurance contract. 15-JA-3105-30; 11-JA-2301-02. Mr. Eskew's

contract specified that "SHL may adopt reasonable policies, procedures, rules and interpretations to promote the orderly and efficient administration of this Plan." 15-JA-2961(§10.7). SHL's medical policies are exhaustively researched and continually updated whenever the evidence warrants it—at least annually, based on the most recent medical literature and clinical studies. 15-JA-3130; 16-JA-3149; 16-JA-3222; 11-JA-2263-64.

The Medical Policy—which was publicly available online in 2015, when Mr. Eskew entered into the insurance contract, 5-JA-1021—identified the circumstances in which SHL would deem proton therapy to be "proven and medically necessary," 15-JA-3106. The Medical Policy stated that proton therapy "is covered without further review" for persons under 19, and for persons 19 and older it is "proven and medically necessary" to treat intracranial arteriovenous malformations, ocular tumors, and skull-based tumors. 15-JA-3105-06. But proton therapy "is unproven and not medically necessary" for other types of cancer, including "[l]ung cancer." 15-JA-3106.

To support this determination, the Medical Policy documented the then-prevalent view within the scientific and medical communities. It canvassed and analyzed the scientific and medical literature—including 11 peer-reviewed studies conducted between 2008 and 2015—that specifically addressed whether proton therapy is a proven treatment for The Medical Policy also relied upon 15-JA-3117-19. lung cancer. guidance from two of the nation's leading organizations for radiation oncology and medical research, both of which had determined that proton therapy was *not* a proven therapy for lung cancer. The American Society for Therapeutic Radiation Oncology (ASTRO) concluded that "current data do not provide sufficient evidence to recommend [proton therapy] outside of clinical trials in lung cancer." 15-JA-3109. Likewise, the Agency for Healthcare Research and Quality (AHRQ)—a federally supervised agency recognized by the Nevada Legislature as an expert research institute, see NRS 695G.053(5)(a)—determined that "the evidence is insufficient to draw any definitive conclusions as to whether [proton therapy] has any advantages over traditional therapies." 15-JA-3119.

Based on this review of the scientific and medical literature, the Medical Policy concluded that "[c]urrent published evidence does not allow for any definitive conclusions about the safety and efficacy of proton

beam therapy to treat [lung cancer] as proven and medically necessary."

15-JA-3106.

SHL's Medical Policy matched the policies of the nation's 12 largest insurers. Given the prevailing views within the scientific and medical communities, none of the nation's 12 largest insurers—covering 75-80% of commercially insured persons in the United States—deemed proton therapy a medically necessary treatment for lung cancer. See 11-JA-2301-08 (Aetna, Anthem, Blue Cross Blue Shield of California, Cigna, Centene Corp., FloridaBlue, HCSC, Highmark Group, Humana, Independence Health Group, Molina, and UnitedHealthcare all considered "proton beam therapy for lung cancer [to be] unproven, and/or not medically necessary").

Neither Mr. Eskew nor his treating physician appealed the denial even though an expedited appeal would have been decided within 72 hours. 15-JA-2965(§12.2); 5-JA-1062-63; 7-JA-1489-90. Instead, Mr. Eskew requested coverage for IMRT, which his treating physician described as "a treatment strategy that ensures good target coverage and normal tissue sparing in regions affected by respiratory motion." 16-JA-3225-28. IMRT is a common treatment for lung cancer, 5-JA-1044-45; 8-

JA-2104, and the medical literature shows that IMRT is at least as effective as proton therapy in attacking cancer, 7-JA-1481; 16-JA-3223-24; 6-JA-1219. Indeed, at the time of Mr. Eskew's request, the use of IMRT for lung cancer was "cutting edge." 10-JA-2105. SHL approved the request for IMRT and Mr. Eskew began the treatment on February 10, 2016, five days after the proton-therapy request was denied. 7-JA-1500.

Mr. Eskew's lung cancer continued to progress and he suffered from esophagitis (inflammation of the esophagus) before he passed away on March 12, 2017. 6-JA-1201-02; 7-JA-1501-07; 14-JA-2709. Plaintiff admitted that Mr. Eskew would have developed grade I and II esophagitis even if he had received proton therapy, 6-JA-1233-36; 6-JA-1272, but alleged that Mr. Eskew developed grade III esophagitis (a more serious form of the condition) as a result of the IMRT treatment, 1-JA18-19; 5-JA-911.

There was no allegation at trial that SHL's approval of IMRT rather than proton therapy "caused or contributed to Mr. Eskew's death." 16-JA-3342 (jury instruction). Plaintiff's radiation-oncology expert testified

that the use of IMRT rather than proton therapy did not affect the progression of Mr. Eskew's cancer. 6-JA-1219-20.

2. Plaintiff Sandra Eskew, as the administrator of Mr. Eskew's estate, sued SHL for insurance bad faith. She did not claim any economic harm or damages. Rather, she claimed entirely noneconomic damages, of two types: damages for Mr. Eskew's emotional distress caused by the denial of proton-therapy coverage, and pain-and-suffering damages resulting from the esophagitis. 1-JA-19-20; 5-JA-913. She also sought punitive damages. 1-JA-23; 14-JA-2702.

Trial began on March 16, 2022. In the trial's initial phase on liability and compensation, Plaintiff's counsel exhorted the jury to punish SHL with massive damages and to use its verdict as a way to regulate the insurance industry, arguing that "juries regulate insurance companies more than anyone, including the government" and that "jury verdicts can be a good thing to regulate conduct." 14-JA-2833. Plaintiff's counsel also launched repeated assaults on SHL's counsel, telling the jury that SHL's counsel "haven't been able to beat [Ms. Eskew] down. No matter what they do to her and her kids on the stand." 14-JA-2836-37; 9-JA-1972-73. In addition, Plaintiff's counsel repeatedly injected their

personal views into the case, instructing the jurors how his co-counsel "Mr. Terry and I would" complete the verdict form, and reassuring the jurors that "[w]e wouldn't ask you to do it if we weren't convinced it was the right thing to do." 14-JA-2755; 14-JA-2838. Many of these arguments—and more—were made over SHL's objections, which were frequently sustained by the trial court. But Plaintiff's counsel were not deterred from continuing the attacks.

Over SHL's objection, the district court admitted evidence that in 2019—three years after SHL denied Mr. Eskew's coverage request—a distant corporate affiliate of SHL owned a minority share of a company that opened a proton-therapy center in New York. Plaintiff used this evidence to accuse SHL of "hypocrisy" and told the jury that the proton-therapy center "render[ed] everything [SHL's witnesses] say about [proton therapy] unbelievable." 14-JA-2811-12.

The jury deliberated for just over an hour before finding SHL liable for insurance bad faith. 14-JA-2840-43. Although Plaintiff's counsel had asked the jury to award \$30 million in compensatory damages, it awarded \$40 million, and also decided that punitive damages were warranted. 14-JA-2838; 14-JA-2842.

Plaintiff's counsel picked up where they left off in the phase 2 proceeding on punitive damages. Over SHL's objections, Plaintiff's counsel ordered SHL's claims manager "to turn to the jury and say on behalf of the Utilization Review Manager for Sierra Health and Life that you agree with their verdict." 14-JA-2868. Counsel then repeated this tactic twice more, commanding SHL's witness to turn in her chair, face the jury, and publicly affirm the company's guilt. 14-JA-2868-69.

The jury deliberated for less than an hour and awarded \$160 million in punitive damages. 14-JA-2902-06; 16-JA-3353.

3. SHL renewed its motion for judgment as a matter of law, and also moved for a new trial or remittitur. 17-JA-3370-3418. The district court calendared argument on these motions, but just 48 hours before the hearing, the court canceled argument and issued two opinions that contained no reasoning and instead simply string-cited lists of cases. 17-JA-3553-56. The district court later adopted, nearly verbatim, proposed findings and conclusions written by Plaintiff's counsel concerning their own alleged misconduct. 18-JA-3560-15; 18-JA-3639-58.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I. SHL is entitled to judgment as a matter of law on the badfaith claim. Bad-faith insurance actions are limited to rare and
exceptional cases where the insurer had no reasonable basis for denying
coverage and the insurer knew or recklessly disregarded that it lacked
any reasonable basis. The plaintiff must also prove damages from the
coverage denial.

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