# In the Supreme Court of Nevada

SIERRA HEALTH AND LIFE INSURANCE CO., INC. Jun 27 2023 01:26 PM Appellant,

Electronically Filed Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

v.

SANDRA L. ESKEW, as special administrator of the estate of William George Eskew, Respondent.

On Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County, Case No. A-19-788630-C

#### RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

MATTHEW L. SHARP (SBN 4746) MATTHEW L. SHARP, LTD. 432 Ridge Street Reno, NV 89501 (775) 324-1500 matt@mattsharplaw.com

DOUGLAS A. TERRY (admitted pro hac vice) DOUG TERRY LAW, PLLC 200 E. 10th Street Plaza, Suite 200 Edmond, OK 73013 (405) 463-6362 doug@dougterrylaw.com

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

*First*, Sierra didn't preserve this argument. Sierra filed its motion in limine when its (and the affiliate's) ultimate parent company, UnitedHealthcare, was still a defendant. Much of plaintiff's briefing thus focused on the affiliate's relationship to United. RA-1-8. The argument now, however, centers only on Sierra being a "distant" corporate relative. The district court never had an opportunity to weigh that supposed prejudicial value when United was out of the case. Sierra asserts (at 54) that it objected at trial, but that objection was only about a specific exhibit and was for relevance, not prejudice. 10-JA-2198.

*Second*, the premise of Sierra's argument—that the evidence is irrelevant—is wrong. The evidence is relevant because it shows that even institutions Sierra would admit are reputable understood proton therapy was proven and effective. Plus, recall that the corporate medical policy Sierra applied bears United's name. 15-JA-3105. That the creator of the policy was the ultimate parent of a company investing in and selling proton therapy casts legitimate doubt on the conclusions in the corporate medical policy.

It doesn't matter if the affiliate was a "distant corporate relative," just as it doesn't matter that the Mayo Clinic wasn't a relative at all. Nor does it matter that the center didn't open until 2019. The investment was in 2015. 10-JA-2192 15-JA-3079, 3093. And because Sierra was still declaring proton therapy unproven at trial, the 2019 operation of its affiliate was relevant to disprove that, too.

*Third*, Sierra doesn't explain how the *evidence* is unfairly prejudicial, let alone so prejudicial that its admission was an abuse of discretion. Nor could it. This isn't propensity evidence, *Rives v. Farris*, 138 Nev. Adv. Op. 17, 506 P.3d 1064, 1071 (2022), drug-use evidence, *Matter of Est. of Garrett*, 111 Nev. 1397, 1398, 906 P.2d 254, 255 (1995), or a similar inflammatory matter. So instead, Sierra largely (at 55-56) complains about counsel's commentary on the evidence. But that's not an evidentiary challenge; it's a misconduct argument—and, as just explained, a failed one.

### IV. The compensatory damages award is supported by substantial evidence and untainted by passion or prejudice.

"A jury is permitted wide latitude in awarding tort damages." *Quintero v. McDonald*, 116 Nev. 1181, 1183, 14 P.3d 522, 523 (2000). For over a century this Court has repeatedly admonished that courts cannot meddle with a damages award "on the ground that the verdict is excessive, unless it is so flagrantly improper as to indicate passion, prejudice, or corruption in the jury." *Forrester v. S. Pac.*, 36 Nev. 247, 134 P. 753, 768 (1913). That deeply rooted principle is now embodied in the Rules of Civil Procedure, which allow a court to grant a new trial on damages on this narrow basis alone. Nev. R. Civ. P. 59(a)(1)(F).

This Court reviews the district court's decision to deny a remittitur request or a new trial based on excessive damages for abuse of discretion. *Wyeth v. Rowatt*, 126 Nev. 446, 473, 244 P.3d 765, 783 (2010). In recognition of the jury's role, this Court views all evidence in the light most favorable to the jury's award. *Rd. & Highway Builders v. N. Nev. Rebar*, 128 Nev. 384, 391, 284 P.3d 377, 381-82 (2012). Under this doubly deferential standard—deferential to the trial judge and the jury—the verdict must stand.

**1.** To start, the jury was properly instructed. Sierra complains (at 66) that the jury "was not given sufficient instruction" because the district court told it that there is "no definite standard" for assessing damages. But *Sierra* requested the instruction that "[n]o

fixed standard exists for deciding [damages]" so jurors must use "your common sense." 16-JA-3291. Sierra can't seek reversal based on its own instructions.

Sierra's instructions were correct. As this Court has long held, awards for pain and suffering are "wholly subjective." *Brownfield v. F.W. Woolworth*, 69 Nev. 294, 296, 248 P.2d 1078, 1079 (1952). Thus, the ordinary judicial reluctance to infringe on the jury's award is, if anything, heightened in cases involving injuries of this nature. *Id.* 

2. The evidence and common-sense inferences available to the jury amply support its award. As discussed, IMRT treatment immediately inflicted on Bill severe acute esophagitis, leaving his esophagus scorched and a "sunburn" in his throat that made every swallow excruciating. 6-JA-1204, 1281. He lost dozens of pounds in just weeks, was hospitalized, and put on pain medication. 9-JA-1857; RA-19-20. At the chronic stage, his weight plummeted again. 6-JA-1274. He vomited and dry heaved constantly, pain radiated through his body like a "heart attack," and the esophagitis left him so weak he could barely stand on his own—all for months. 8-JA-1740-42, 9-JA-1780.

IMRT didn't just transform Bill physically; it wrecked him emotionally, too. Sierra belittles (at 64) Bill's psychological injuries as nothing more than a few adjectives. But Bill's struggle with the reality that permanent scarring of his esophagus would prevent him from eating and force him to dry heave daily cannot be reduced to the word "hopeless." Bill's knowledge that his insurer had denied him the very coverage for

which he purchased his plan, against his world-renowned doctor's recommendation, and had thereby stolen from him the ability to enjoy his last months, cannot be trivialized as merely being "angry." Bill's inability to spend time with his son or to allow his wife to live her own life rather than constantly care for him was not simply "frustrating." And Bill's knowledge that, in the time he had left, he was in too much pain to continue to be the "father figure" missing from his granddaughter's life or bond with his newly born grandson cannot be written off as just "devastating." The jury evidently agreed.

- 3. Beyond its complaint about the instruction, Sierra attacks the jury's verdict on several grounds. Each runs headlong into the standard of review or this Court's precedent, and none shows an abuse of discretion.
- a. Sierra argues that the size of verdict, on its own and relative to other awards, warrants overturning the jury's decision. But this Court has repeatedly rejected these arguments. "The mere fact that a verdict is large is not itself indicative of passion and prejudice." *Hazelwood v. Harrah's*, 109 Nev. at 1010, 862 P.2d at 1192; *Wells v. Shoemake*, 64 Nev. 57, 74, 177 P.2d 451, 460 (1947). And in Nevada, a "compar[ison] to damages awards in similar cases"—let alone the factually inapposite ones to which Sierra points—constitutes "an abuse of discretion," because prior juries do not bind future juries. *Wyeth*, 126 Nev. at 472 n.10, 244 P.2d at 783 n.10; *see also Wells*, 64 Nev. at 74,

177 P.2d at 460.<sup>5</sup> That rule is consistent with what Sierra asked the jury to be instructed: that it may evaluate the evidence and use its *own* "common sense" to determine an appropriate award. Put another way: Prior juries do not bind future juries. Nevada is not alone on this score. *See, e.g., Morga v. FedEx Ground Package Sys.*, 2022-NMSC-013, ¶ 26; *Richardson v. Chapman*, 175 Ill. 2d 98, 114, 676 N.E.2d 621, 628-29 (1997).

Anyway, the verdict here isn't the outlier Sierra suggests. *See, e.g., Morga,* 2022-NMSC-013, ¶ 26 (\$40 million noneconomic award for husband not present when wife died in car accident; wife's estate separately awarded \$32 million for wrongful death); *Ingham v. Johnson & Johnson,* 608 S.W.3d 663, 680 (Mo. Ct. App. 2020) (\$25 million each for cancer survivors); *Cruz v. Allied Aviation,* No. 2019-81830 (Tex. Dist. Ct. Oct. 25, 2021) (\$85 million in "mental anguish" for surviving accident victim; \$20 million loss of consortium for adult child)<sup>6</sup>; Katelyn Newberg, *Woman with 'locked-in syndrome' awarded \$47M in malpractice suit,* Las Vegas Review-Journal, https://perma.cc/YD5W-ACTT (Feb. 9, 2023).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Sierra asserts (at 65) that—notwithstanding the clear direction from cases like *Wyeth* and *Wells—Nevada Independent Broadcasting v. Allen*, 99 Nev. 404, 419, 664 P.2d 337, 347 (1983), endorses tethering each new damages award to the awards in prior cases. But *Allen*, a slander case, was motivated by First Amendment concerns, and this Court has already rejected that it can be read to mean prior verdicts can cap future verdicts. *See Bongiovi v. Sullivan*, 122 Nev. 556, 578, 138 P.3d 433, 449 (2006).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Verdict viewable at https://perma.cc/6ENY-KM8E.

**b.** When Sierra finally turns to the evidence, the company downplays Bill's injuries and argues that, on the record it would've preferred the jury accepted, the verdict is too high. That defies the standard of review and doesn't justify overturning the verdict.

Consider Sierra's argument about pain-and-suffering damages. Sierra argues (at 63) that the only injuries that count are those from November 2016 until Bill's death, an argument apparently based on Dr. Chang's testimony that Bill receiving "total parenteral nutrition" in November was an "objective" indication he had grade III esophagitis. 6-JA-206-07. But Dr. Chang also testified that any "severe" impairment of the ability to eat, which Bill had in February 2016, qualified as grade III, 6-JA-1208-09, which Bill had in February 2016, 9-JA-1857. Sierra also attributes (at 63) "much of [Bill's] pain-and-suffering" to his lung-cancer immunotherapy and antibiotics, not esophagitis, based on Dr. Chang agreeing that those things could theoretically cause a lack of appetite or nausea. 6-JA-1276. But Dr. Chang and Dr. Liao testified that esophagitis could, too, and Bill's wife, who "lived with him every day," testified to the devastating effects the ailment had on him. 9-JA-1965. The jury was entitled to credit that.<sup>7</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Sierra also tries (at 63) to knock out pain attributable to grade II esophagitis based on the claim that Bill's estate "conceded" he would have gotten it with proton therapy. Sufficient evidence supports the award even without injuries attributable to grade II, but this argument suffers from the same flaw. All Sierra's citations show is that Dr. Chang did not offer an opinion (one way or the other) about grade II. There was

What Sierra has not done is offer any argument that the full scope of Bill's injuries that the jury could have credited—and that this Court assumes that it did—fails to support the verdict. No more is needed to reject the company's argument.

**d.** Finally, Sierra recycles (at 60) its attorney-misconduct argument, contending that counsel's purportedly improper statements must have led the jury to act with passion or prejudice. We have already explained that there was no misconduct, which is enough to reject Sierra's argument.

But the claim has particularly little purchase when it comes to damages. This Court presumes that the jury follows all instructions. *See Krause v. Little*, 117 Nev. 929, 937, 34 P.3d 566, 571 (2001). The jury here was not just instructed to limit the phase-one award to compensatory damages. 16-JA-3345-46. In addition, after the jury awarded compensatory damages, Sierra, speculating that the jury had awarded punitive damages during the liability phase of the trial, persuaded the district court to issue a special instruction: "If you have already awarded punitive damages within your \$40 million award, no further award should be made." 14-JA-2876. When the jury then awarded punitive damages in the second phase of the trial, it made abundantly clear that it had not improperly punished Sierra in the first phase.

no "concession." To the contrary, Dr. Liao testified that Bill could've avoided side effects with proton therapy. 7-JA-1455-56, 1510. The jury could credit that testimony, which encompasses grade II.

The essence of what Sierra argues, however, is that the jury did the opposite—that it punished Sierra with compensatory damages and then deliberately defied the trial court's supplemental instruction to punish Sierra some more. There is no basis to conclude that the jury acted in such a rogue fashion—especially given the substantial evidence supporting the award. *See Morga*, 2022-NMSC-013, ¶ 43 (rejecting passion-or-prejudice argument where trial court conducted special poll to confirm that an award was strictly for compensatory damages).

Nor can Sierra salvage its passion-or-prejudice claim by observing that the jury awarded more damages than counsel suggested and reached a verdict quickly. The award here was only one-third more than counsel requested, a deviation that shows the jury acted independently, not that it hung on counsel's every suggestion. Courts, including this one, have found substantial departures from the requested award "permissible." *See Bongiovi v. Sullivan*, 122 Nev. 556, 583, 138 P.3d 433, 452 (2006) (deviation of 50 percent); *see also, e.g., Morga*, 2022-NMSC-013, ¶ 8, 44 (\$32 million award; \$12 million requested); *Mansfield v. Horner*, 443 S.W.3d 627, 642 (Mo. Ct. App. 2014) (\$108 million award; \$88 million requested). Sierra points to *DeJesus v. Flick*, but it involved an award twice as large as requested and, critically, attorney misconduct. 116 Nev. 812, 819, 7 P.3d 459, 464 (2000).

Courts have just as often rejected efforts to overturn verdicts based on how long a jury takes to return a verdict. "The length of time that a jury deliberates has no bearing on the strength or correctness of their conclusions or the validity of their verdict." *Anglin v. State*, 553 S.W.2d 616, 620 (Tenn. Crim. App. 1977); *see also, e.g. Ill., Cent. R.R. v. Hawkins*, 830 So. 2d 1162, 1180 (Miss. 2002) (12 minutes to return liability verdict and 56 minutes to return award of \$4.8 million). What it shows here, as the "record disclose[s]," is that this is simply "one of those cases wherein '[t]he jurors find themselves in immediate accord." *Moore v. Menges*, 89 Ariz. 268, 269-70, 361 P.2d 9, 10 (1961) (40 minutes).8

### V. The punitive-damages award is consistent with state and federal law.

# A. The trial court properly instructed the jury on punitive damages, and overwhelming evidence supports the verdict.

A plaintiff in a bad-faith case may recover punitive damages if the defendant is "guilty of oppression . . . or malice, express or implied." NRS 42.005.1. When submitting its proposed instructions, Sierra asked the court to instruct the jury that "oppression" requires "conscious disregard" of a plaintiff's rights. But Sierra now backtracks, contending that bad-faith plaintiffs (and no one else) must also prove "evil motive" or "intent to injure." Sierra's argument is both belated and wrong.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> To the extent that Sierra intends to argue that the punitive damages award was also tainted by passion or prejudice, that argument fails for all the same reasons.

### 1. Sierra asked for instructions under the standard it challenges.

Sierra's first problem is the "invited error" doctrine, which holds that a party may not "complain on appeal of errors which he himself induced or provoked the court or the opposite party to commit." *Pearson v. Pearson*, 110 Nev. 293, 297, 871 P.2d 343, 345 (1994). Sierra itself requested an instruction that allowed a finding of "oppression" if the jury found that Sierra acted with "conscious disregard of the rights of [a] person." 16-JA-3293. The court gave the "oppression" instruction that Sierra requested, 16-JA-3345, and its challenge on appeal is thus barred.

It does not matter that Sierra challenged the separate instruction on malice. JA-2262-66. The court instructed (again, as Sierra requested) that the jury could award punitive damages based on oppression "or" malice, and the jury then returned a general verdict. 16-JA-3293, 3345. Thus, so long as the evidence is sufficient to support the jury's verdict under the oppression standard—and, as explained below, it is—any purported error in the malice instruction is harmless. *See Cortinas v. State*, 124 Nev. 1013, 1025, 195 P.3d 315, 323 (2008).

### 2. The district court's instruction was correct.

Invited error aside, the district court didn't err in giving a "conscious disregard" instruction. NRS 42.005(I) authorizes punitive damages based on "oppression" or "malice, express or implied." Implied malice encompasses conduct that is "engaged in with a conscious disregard of the rights or safety of others." *Countrywide Home Loans v.* 

, .

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